#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### LARRY DECORLEON BROWN

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 08 2021 01:31 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

### THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

#### Docket No. 81962

Direct Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge District Court No. C-17-326247-1

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Navid Afshar
State Bar #14465
Deputy Special Public Defender
JoNell Thomas
State Bar #4771
Special Public Defender
330 South 3rd Street
Las Vegas, NV 89155
(702) 455-6265
Attorneys for Brown

#

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, by jury verdict, of conspiracy to commit robbery, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, and first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. 17AA 3360. The district court twice amended the judgment of conviction, to correct errors, on October 20, 2020 and December 2, 2020. 18AA 3431, 52. A timely notice of appeal was filed on October 19, 2020. 18AA 3429. An amended notice of appeal was filed on December 8, 2020. 18AA 3458. This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 177.015.

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The issues in this appeal are of a constitutional dimension and present an issue of first impression in Nevada: whether deference to a private contractor's claim of trade secrets may abridge a defendant's constitutional right to confrontation. This case should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(11). This appeal is not within the case categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b).

111

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the district court committed numerous evidentiary errors in violation of state and federal law.
- B. Whether the state violated *Batson v. Kentucky* and the district court committed structural error.
- C. Whether the district court's rulings violated Larry's rights under the Confrontation Clause.
- D. Whether cumulative error warrants a new trial.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 20, 2019, the State indicted appellant Larry Brown on charges of conspiracy to commit robbery, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with use of a deadly weapon, and ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. 1 14AA 2728.

Trial began on December 9, 2019. 5AA 965. Prior to trial, the court made several rulings relevant to this appeal. The district court denied Larry's request to strike evidence of comparative footwear analysis, finding the State could present this evidence without any expert report or scientific testimony. 4AA 873; 5AA 948.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>During trial, Larry entered an Alford Plea to Count 4, ownership or possession of a firearm by a prohibited person. 15AA 2792.

Citing the Confrontation Clause, Larry moved to exclude all the evidence obtained from Cellebrite, objected to the expert from Cellebrite being allowed to limit their testimony to protect trade secrets, and to testify via video. 9AA 1630-31. The court overruled these objections. 5AA 928.

After jury selection, Larry argued the State violated *Batson v*. *Kentucky* for three jurors 8AA 1488. The court denied his challenges but committed structural error doing so. 8 App. 1522.

Larry testified during trial. He objected to a highly prejudicial and improper question the State asked him during cross-examination and moved for a mistrial. The State asked him if he would find it odd that his girlfriend Angelisa searched on her phone for information related to the shooting. 13AA 2473. The court sustained the objection but denied the mistrial. 13AA 2474; 14AA 2506, 36. As a result of the improper question, the State introduced rebuttal evidence, which Larry opposed on grounds of being unauthenticated, hearsay, and improper rebuttal evidence. 14AA 2645. The court admitted the evidence. *Id.*, 14 AA 2613-29.

The jury found Larry guilty of conspiracy to commit robbery, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, and first-degree murder with use of

a deadly weapon. 17AA 3360. On May 15, 2019, the district court sentenced Larry on Count One, to a minimum term of 28 months and a maximum term of 6 years; on Count Two, to a minimum term of 6 years and a maximum term of 15 years, with a consecutive sentence of a minimum of 6 years and a maximum term of 15 years for the deadly weapon enhancement, Count Two to run concurrent to Count One; Count Three, to a minimum term of 20 years and a maximum term of life; and on Count Four, to a minimum term of 28 months, with a maximum term of 6 years, Count Four to run Consecutive to Count 3. 18 AA 3427. The aggregate sentence was 30 years to life. 18AA 3455.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State alleged that on February 21, 2017, Larry Brown shot and killed Kwame Banks during a robbery that was planned in advance with Anthony Carter. Larry contested the State's charges, arguing that its case was based on circumstantial evidence, unreliable cell phone records, and improperly admitted footwear impressions. No eyewitness testimony or other evidence directly identified Larry as the shooter.

Larry testified at trial. He is originally from Atlanta, Georgia but lived in Las Vegas with Angelisa Ryder. 13AA 2435. He visited Atlanta

several times a year. *Id.* He did not know Kwame and police did not find any communication between the two. 11AA 2126; 13AA 2439. On February 21, 2017, Larry wanted to buy marijuana from his friend Anthony, whom he had bought marijuana from previously. 13AA 2440. Usually, Larry met him at a store to buy drugs and, since Anthony did not have a car, Larry would give him rides. *Id.* Larry dropped Angelisa off at work around 7 p.m. and headed back home. 14AA 2457.

That night, around 9:30 p.m., Larry waited in the parking lot of a gas station for Anthony to arrive with marijuana. 14AA 2441. Anthony sent Larry text messages that he was arriving. 14AA 2442-43. Larry got out of his car and, to his surprise, he was attacked by multiple men wearing hoodies. 14AA 2443. They pistol-whipped him, took his phone and cash. 14AA 2443-45. He did not report the robbery because he was afraid to tell police he was robbed while attempting to buy drugs. *Id*.

#### Kwame Banks's Death

On February 21, 2017, Kwame Banks was with his girlfriend, Tiffany Seymour, at 5850 Sky Pointe Drive. 8AA 1557-58. According to her, around 8 p.m., Kwame received a phone call about setting a meeting to do what he did regularly, sell large amounts of marijuana. 8AA 1560,

1562–63; 9AA 1677. After he got the call, Kwame loaded foot long bags of marijuana in his car. 8AA 1563. He left and came back within 5 to 10 minutes. *Id*.

Around 10:30 p.m., Dereka Nelson was alone in her apartment. 8AA 1568-70. She heard someone ask for help— then she heard a gunshot. 8AA 1570. She called 911. *Id.* Dereka looked out the window and saw two men "tussling" on top of her car, a pearl white Toyota. 8AA 1573. She believed Kwame was on the bottom of the fight. 8AA 1574. Then, she heard a second shot. *Id.* 

Initially, she claimed she saw the second man (the man Kwame was tussling with) going through his pockets. 8AA 1574. On cross-examination she conceded she told police he did not go through his pockets. 8AA 1576. Also, she testified she was sure it was the same person, yet moments later, changed course and admitted she could be wrong. *Id.* She heard someone get in a vehicle and then saw a Blue Mazda drive away. *Id.*; 8AA 1577.

Jakhai Smith lived in the same apartment building as Dereka. 8AA 1579. That night, he saw two men fighting in the parking lot. 8AA 1585. He testified at trial that he saw a man wearing all black pull out a gun

during the fight and fire it. 8AA 1585. But, on cross-examination, he admitted he told police he did not see a gun. *Id*. On direct examination he was asked if he remembered the man in all black say something to the victim, to which he testified several times that he did not. 8 AA 1591. After having his recollection refreshed with his voluntary statement to police, he testified he told them he heard the man in all black saying "don't move n[\*]gga." *Id*. Unlike Dereka, Jakhai did not see or hear a vehicle. 8AA 1595.

Forensic Pathologist Christina Di Loreto did not conduct the autopsy but testified to its findings. 8AA 1609, 11. Kwame had two gunshot wounds, one to the chest and the other to the back, with the shot to the chest causing death. 8AA 1613, 1619. There were two cartridges found near Kwame's body. 9AA 1701. The State argued that Kwame was robbed—yet according to the autopsy report, Kwame had about \$1,900 in cash, earrings, and a bracelet on his person. 8AA 1612, 9AA 1718. He also had THC and THC metabolites in his system. 8AA 1623.

#### **Cell Phone Examination and Evidence**

Police found three cell phones in the parking lot where Kwame was shot. 10AA 1818. One was broken into pieces near the front entrance, one

was in the rocks, and the third was under Kwame's arm. 9AA 1670. Officers gathered the phones. 9AA 1672. The phone found in the rocks was encrypted, so they took out the sim card and handed it to the LVMPD digital forensic lab. 9AA 1688. The lab obtained the phone's records from Sprint, which identified the phone as registered to Larry Brown of Atlanta, Georgia. 9AA 1690. Co-defendant Anthony's phone was never found. 9AA 1693.

The other two phones found at the parking lot were Verizon phones under Kwame's name. *Id.* Using Cellebrite<sup>2</sup> software, CSA Wilcox extracted information for these two phones. 8AA 1691, 9AA 1774. Both phones had a contact saved as "POE ATL," which Wilcox identified as Anthony. 9AA 1692. Kwame also had a third phone. 8AA 1564. Wilcox could not confirm if there was any testing for fingerprints on any of Kwame's phones. 9AA 1778.

LMVPD Detective Eugenio Basilotta, testified for the State about cell site information 11AA 2112, 17, 42, 47. Working in the Technical And Surveillance Squad ("TASS"), he testified there were no calls or texts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Multiple issues were raised prior to and during trial regarding Cellebrite, a company who assists law enforcement with extracting data from cell phones. 4AA 723. These issues are discussed below.

between Larry and Kwame. 11AA 2113, 15-16, 26. However, Kwame had numerous communications with Anthony, who in turn had numerous communications with Carnell Cave. 11AA 2145, 48. Detective Basilotta went over different texts and calls between Anthony and Larry's phone on the day of the shooting. 11AA 2130-40.

#### **Investigation**

Law enforcement recovered several additional items from the parking lot, including a .40 caliber cartridge next to Kwame's body, a red-handled knife in his waistband, and a torn black nitrile glove on the ground. 9AA 1666.

Analyst Kristin Thomas testified there were shoeprints in blood on the pavement near where Kwame was found.<sup>3</sup> 10AA 1802, 04–05, 15.

Police searched Anthony's and Carnell's homes. 9AA 1698. They failed to collect or test evidence that might have shed light on what happened at the parking lot. For example, outside Anthony's home, detectives found a pair of shoes but for reasons never defined, decided against testing the shoes or taking any pictures. 10AA 1834, 37, 53. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The shoeprints were a key piece of evidence in the State's case and a focus of pre-trial litigation. Larry challenged the admission of the footprints before trial, 4AA 873, an issue discussed below.

was unusual since Aireonte Reed, a security guard at the Skye Pointe apartments, told police that he did not think the suspect had boots but wore tennis shoes. 9 AA. 1729. Instead, police took shoes from only Angelisa's home, where Larry lived. 9AA 1702–03, 31. On the same day LMVPD searched Anthony's home, they also executed a search warrant at Angelisa's home. 9AA 1702–03. Police impounded a pair of red and black "Ralph Lauren Polo Sport" shoes, size 13 D, with reddish brown stains, but a presumptive blood test was negative. 9AA 1731; 10AA 1878. Jurors asked questions about the shoes, such as how long it takes for blood to appear or deteriorate on a shoe, indicating they were curious why Larry's shoes did not test positive for blood. 10AA 1883–84.

Law enforcement did not find Kwame's black Nissan Altima until two days after the shooting. 9AA 1677–79. The car was half a mile from where Kwame was shot with its plates removed. *Id.* An officer saw the car as he was driving by and took notice because there were no license plates and it matched a description of Kwame's car. *Id.* He saw a black male near the car but when he approached, the man was gone and a white SUV was leaving. 9AA 1685–86. Based on this and surveillance footage from nearby businesses, police developed a description for the suspect

car—a white mid-sized SUV. 9AA 1687, 88. As it happened, Angelisa owned a 2015 White Jeep SUV that LVMPD officers observed parked outside her home. 9AA 1748; 13AA 2429; 14AA 2678–79.

The State strung together an elaborate theory with these strained, imprecise facts as circumstantial evidence to identify Larry as the shooter. *Id.* By argument alone—not by evidence—the State submitted that the SUV seen near the unlicensed Altima was the same as the one found at Angelisa's house, and implied the black male who entered it must have been Larry. *Id.* However, Officer English, who first saw the SUV driving away from Kwame's Altima, never identified the make or the model of the SUV and did not run its license plate. 9AA 1747, 53. Thus, he could not claim with any degree of reliability that this was the same vehicle. *Id.* 

#### <u>Inconsistent DNA Results & Contamination of the Crime Scene</u>

When police found the Altima, it was scorched. 8AA 1683. Police searched the Altima and recovered a charred seat cushion, burnt fabric towels, a beanie, baseball cap, lighters, swisher sweets wrapped in "green leafy substance," swabs of blood from the accelerator pedal and the brake, and DNA swabs from several bottles. 9AA 1740. Despite all these

evidentiary leads, only accelerator and brake pedals were tested for DNA. 9AA 1740, 10AA 1916-17; 12AA 2309.

There were inconsistencies in the limited DNA testing. The State argued that Larry was in the parking lot where Kwame died based on the presence of a torn nitrile glove with traces of Larry's DNA found inside the glove. 12AA 2262. However, LVMPD forensic analyst Marjorie Davidovic testified there was a mixture of three individuals in the glove and that she had to keep retesting the swabs. 12AA 2236, 03. In her third and final report, Larry's DNA was still included in the inside of the nitrile glove, but now it was inconclusive as to whether Kwame, Carnell, or Anthony's DNA was present. 12AA 2303. She confirmed that the outside of the glove excluded Larry, but had DNA from Kwame, with two unknown contributors. 12AA 2304.

There was also vial-swab contamination. Davidovic conceded on cross-examination there was a corrective action report for this case, in which a CSA, not assigned to this case, contaminated swabs taken from the pedals of the Altima. 12AA 2315. Of particular concern, she testified that the CSA who contaminated the Nissan pedals never came into contact with the pedals, acknowledging that someone may provide DNA

without ever coming into contact with an item. *Id*. She also conceded it was possible that if someone came into contact with Larry, they could transfer his DNA onto the glove. 12AA 2316.

Further troubling was her revelation that the inside-out pockets from Kwame's sweatpants were never tested, despite a witness testifying that someone went through his pockets. 12AA 2318. However, Kwame's sweatpants and the right hip pocket were tested and Larry's DNA profile was excluded. 12AA 2319. Larry's DNA was also excluded from the phone under Kwame, the back and shattered glass of the cell phone near the exit road, and the accelerator and brake pedals of the Altima. 12AA 2320.

#### Other Suspects Left Unexamined

Anthony, charged as a co-defendant in Larry's case, was in contact with both Carnell and Kwame before and on the night of the shooting. 12AA 2145. Carnell lived in the apartment building near the shooting, and his phone number was in Kwame's phone. *Id.* Detective Basilotta claimed investigators could not obtain cell site information from his phone because they did not have his cell tower records. 12AA 2164. However, the jury was unsatisfied with this answer—one juror again asked why Carnell's cell tower records were not obtained. 13AA 2217.

Basilotta conceded a search warrant could have produced the information, but detectives on the case did not request one for Carnell's phone. 13AA 2218.

On the morning of March 20, 2017, police and SWAT officers searched an apartment associated with Anthony. 10AA 1834-35. They found a 9 .mm firearm and marijuana. 9AA 1698. Police did eventually execute a warrant on Carnell's apartment, where they found marijuana. 9AA 1702.

Besides failing to investigate Carnell's relationship with Kwame, police also failed to look into Carnell's relationship with Anthony. On the night of the shooting when police were canvassing the area for witnesses, they knocked on Carnell's door, but he did not open. 9AA 1751. Police later learned that Anthony was hiding inside Carnell's apartment that night. 9AA 1697, 1749, 1751. There were also numerous communications between Anthony and Carnell. *Id.* Ultimately, Carnell's role in the events of that night was never seriously investigated and he was never charged. 14AA 2728.

Anthony pleaded guilty to one count of Voluntary Manslaughter with Use of a Deadly Weapon for Kwame's death and was sentenced to a

minimum of 8 years with a maximum of 20 years in the Nevada Department of Corrections. 18AA 3413. Anthony cooperated with the State but did not testify. His text messages were read into the record against Larry, and given to the jury for deliberation. 10 AA 1981-84, 17 AA 3292-3324. The State pointed to certain texts between Larry and Anthony that it argued demonstrated conspiracy to commit robbery. 14 AA. 2664-72. For example, Anthony sent a text about where "he" kept money in the console, or that "he" was tired. 17 AA 3292, 97. Yet, the texts never explicitly discuss a robbery and no text indicates Larry knew Kwame. 17 AA 3292-3324.

#### Larry's Arrest in Atlanta

Larry testified during trial he never met or communicated with Kwame and was not involved in his shooting. 13AA 2439.

Nearly a month after Kwame was killed, Larry moved back to his hometown of Atlanta—he disputed, as the State later argued, that he was fleeing after committing a crime. 12AA 2376. Larry left for Atlanta before law enforcement searched Angelisa's and Anthony's apartments. 13AA 2436. He traveled with his friend, Loshalonda Ford, who visited him in

Las Vegas. 13AA 2413, 17. She confirmed he was planning on moving back to Atlanta. *Id*.

While in Atlanta, Larry heard police had kicked down the door of Angelisa's home, looking for him. 13AA 2447. He hired an attorney in Las Vegas who communicated on his behalf to Metro to discuss his surrender. 12AA 2343, 45-46, 86. Larry first spoke to his attorney on March 28, 2017. 12AA 2345. On April 4, 2017, his attorney informed law enforcement Larry would surrender. 12AA 2346. At the time, there was no arrest warrant. 12AA 2381.

On June 29, 2017, FBI agents arrested Larry in Atlanta, on LMVPD's behalf. 9AA 1703, 10AA 1902, 12AA 2346.

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Larry's rights were violated throughout trial. His rights to Confrontation and a Fair Trial were violated by the district court's decision to admit text messages obtained by Cellebrite, a third-party contractor. The district court denied Larry the ability to properly prepare an expert to rebut the evidence. Moreover, the Court unconstitutionally limited Larry's cross-examination of Cellebrite because it opted to protect Cellebrite's purported trade secrets—blatantly raising Cellebrite's

undisclosed, amorphous financial interests over Larry's Sixth Amendment right to Confrontation. Worse still, the court exacerbated this error by allowing Cellebrite to testify remotely from New Jersey without a requisite finding of necessity.

Larry's right to a fair trial and due process were violated by the district court's decision to admit unreliable footwear impressions without an expert. While the district court initially indicated an expert would likely be needed, it later changed its mind—without citation to or reliance on any authority, but instead relying only on its own subjective analysis—ruling an expert was unnecessary.

Larry's right to a fair trial and an impartial jury were violated by the State's violations of *Batson v. Kentucky*, and the district court committed structural error in resolving the challenge. Larry's rights against Self-incrimination, to Due Process and a Fair Trial were violated during cross-examination, when the State asked whether he would be find it odd that Angelisa conducted searches on her phone related to shootings. 13AA 2473. Although the district court sustained the objection, it denied Larry's request for a mistrial. Reversal is also mandated because the district court admitted unauthenticated text

messages and cell phone search history into evidence, based on the State's improper question during cross-examination. This evidence was not only inadmissible but highly speculative and prejudicial. While each of these issues warrant a reversal of his conviction, the cumulative error also necessitates a new trial.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

# A. The district court committed numerous evidentiary errors in violation of state and federal law.

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