#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LARRY BROWN,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 08 2021 11:18 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 81962

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court's decision to admit footwear impression evidence was proper because the evidence was clearly understandable to the average person and did not require expert opinion. Appellant's girlfriend's text messages and cell phone search history were appropriately admitted into evidence because they were authenticated and not hearsay, as they were not offered for the truth of the matter contained therein. The State did not violate Batson v. Kentucky and the district court did not commit structural error because the State had race-neutral reasons for striking the potential jurors and the district court conducted the proper inquiry. Appellant's right to confront witnesses against him was not violated by either the limitation of Cellebrite's testimony or the fact that they testified via audiovisual transmission. Cellebrite's testimony was appropriately limited to protect the integrity of proprietary law enforcement software. Moreover, Appellant was able to extensively cross-examine Cellebrite. The district court's decision to allow Cellebrite to testify audiovisually comported with this Court's decision in Lipsitz. Cumulative error does not exist because there are no errors to cumulate. Alternatively, if this Court finds error, any error is harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ADMITTING THE FOOTWEAR IMPRESSION EVIDENCE OR THE TEXT MESSAGES

This Court generally reviews a district court's decision to admit evidence for an abuse of discretion. <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 639, 646, 188 P.3d 1126, 1131 (2008); <u>see e.g.</u>, <u>McLellan v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 263, 267, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008) ("We review a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion.").

# a. The district court properly admitted the footwear impressions into evidence.

Appellant argues that the district court abused its discretion by admitting the footwear impression evidence without expert testimony. <u>AOB</u> at 22. In so arguing, Appellant claims that the photos admitted into evidence "required forensic analysis and testimony." <u>AOB</u> at 23. Appellant's claim must be denied because the footwear impression was relevant and did not require an expert opinion.

"Relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence." NRS 48.015. The key to determining whether testimony constitutes lay or expert testimony lies with a careful consideration of the substance of the testimony—does the testimony concern information within the common knowledge of or capable of perception by the average layperson or does it require some specialized knowledge or skill beyond the

realm of everyday experience? <u>Burnside v. State</u>, 131 Nev. 371, 383, 352 P.3d 627, 636 (2015).

Here, Appellant asserts that the footwear impression evidence should have been excluded because it is not scientifically valid. His only support for this assertion is his citation to a 2016 report by the President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology ("PCAST"). AOB at 21. In sum, the report opines that conclusions that foot impressions came from a specific piece of footwear do not appear to be scientifically valid. AOB at 21–22. Importantly, the PCAST report did not assess the reliability of analyses as to whether a particular shoeprint was made by a particular size and make of shoe; thus, the PCAST report is irrelevant to Appellant's case. See President's Counsel of Advisors on Sci. & Tech., Exec. Office of the President, Forensic Science in Criminal Courts: Ensuring Scientific Validity of Feature-Methods 114-15 (2016),Comparison https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ostp/PCAST/pc ast forensic science report final.pdf ("we do not address the question of whether examiners can reliably determine class characteristics-for example, whether a particular shoeprint was made by a size 12 shoe of a particular make...PCAST chose not to focus on this aspect of footwear examination because it is not inherently a challenging measurement problem to determine class characteristics, to estimate the frequency of shoes having a particular class characteristic, or (for jurors) to

14

understand the nature of the features in question."). The PCAST report's conclusions only call into question the validity of footprint comparisons, not the relevance of photos taken of footprints at the scene of a murder, or the shoes impounded from a suspect's residence.

The State did not admit testimony from any witness, expert or not, who claimed to have compared the shoes recovered from Appellant's residence to the footprints at the crime scene, and found that they matched. This is the only type of footwear impression evidence that was called into question by the PCAST report. Nothing in the PCAST report, or in Nevada law, prevents the State from presenting jurors with photographs of footprints made at the crime scene, or footwear recovered from the defendant's residence.

In determining that the State was permitted to present this evidence to the jury,

the district court found:

Look, I considered all of it and to me it's pretty clear. I mean, you don't even need two eyes. You need one eye to look at that footprint. And I think any lay person can look at the footprint and evaluate it.

Now, clearly, they can't argue anything about, you know, the weight or somebody's apparent size based on the print or their gait or whether [they're] right handed or left [handed]. Anything like that. And that clearly is now expert. Or if they were running or walking, but just to look at the print and the blood, to me it's pretty clear. And I don't think you need any kind of expert training to see what's to me in my mind perfectly clear.

Now again, if they want to get into well, he pronates this way or, you know, he's pigeon toed or something like that, then that's clearly

beyond the, you know, understanding of a lay person and that's expert. But if they just limit it to showing the photo and showing the sneaker, I think it's really obvious.

5 AA 884–85. Further, the trial court explained, "the issue is can a person of ordinary understanding, an average person look at this evidence and interpret it without the benefit of any specialized skill, knowledge, training or education? The answer is yes." 5 AA 890. The analysis done by the district court comports with this Court's caselaw.

Notably, not the State, nor the State's witnesses, discussed comparisons of the

footwear impressions. In its opening statement, the extent of the commentary on the

footwear evidence was as follows:

In addition to that, these are just two of them, but there was a series of footprints leading away from Mr. Banks' body, bloody footprints that had a distinctive feature as to their soles.

Inside [Appellant's] residence they located two pairs of Polo size 13 D boots with this distinctive sole. Upon further comparison, looking to the bloodied foot print that was found on scene you can see exactly . . . what that is.

8 AA 1548, 1553. The State *only* admitted the photos of the footwear impressions and shoes impounded from Appellant's residence. 16 AA 2941, 2943, 2949, 2951, 3075, 3077, 3107, 3109; 17 AA 3225, 3227, 3253, 3255, 3263, 3265, 3267, 3269, 3271, 3273, 3275, 3277, 3279. None of the State's witnesses testified as to the comparison between the photos of the bloody shoeprints and Appellant's shoes. In its closing argument, the extent of argument regarding the footwear evidence was: "The orange cones down by – if you can kind of see it in the frame, that blue car, the four of them, the five of them you're going to have there, are all bloody footprints." 14 AA 2673. Next, in rebuttal, the State limited its argument with respect to the footwear evidence to the following:

And remember this: Mr. Brown told you these are his shoes. Okay. That's the bloodstain, like, inches from the victim's body. *This is where your common sense comes in*. This is where looking at the evidence as a whole comes in, as opposed to in a vacuum. Would it have been nice to test those little red stains for [blood]? Absolutely. I'm not going to argue it wouldn't have been. *But can you look at that as reasonable men and women and say that's not Larry Brown's shoe in the middle? I'll let you make that determination*.

14 AA 2714 (emphases added). The State and its witnesses unambiguously abided by the Court's limitations and did not opine about the comparison between the bloody shoeprints and Appellant's shoe—the State simply presented the evidence to the jury and requested that the jurors use their common sense in looking at the evidence. The State encouraged the jurors to rely on their everyday experience and make the determination as to whether the bloody footprints and the soles of Appellant's boots were similar.

Expert testimony was not necessary for the reasons stated by the district court. 5 AA 884–90. The distinctive characteristics from the bloody shoeprints at the scene of the crime were so clearly similar to the boots recovered from Appellant's residence that an expert was not required to testify as to a comparison. The jurors, using their everyday common sense and life experience, were more than capable of looking at the photos of the footprints and then at Appellant's shoes and making their own determination of whether the prints were made by that type of shoe. An expert's opinion as to a comparison would not have aided the jury in this endeavor and thus was not warranted.

Moreover, Appellant's argument is contradictory—on one hand, Appellant is arguing that footprint comparisons are not valid science, yet on the other, Appellant is simultaneously claiming that photos of footprints and shoes cannot be admitted without expert scientific testimony. Either the comparisons are *not* valid science, or they *are*, and require expert testimony—it cannot be both.

Assuming this Court finds that the district court erred, any error was harmless when confronted with the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Under NRS 178.598, any "error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness, based upon whether the error had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. <u>Knipes v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). On the other hand, constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The test under <u>Chapman</u> for constitutional trial error is "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the

18

defendant guilty absent the error." <u>Tavares v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n.14 (2001).

The evidence against Appellant was absolutely overwhelming. Appellant's DNA was found *inside* the ripped latex glove located underneath Kwame's lifeless body near his turned-out pocket, Appellant's DNA was found *inside* the black cloth work glove located near Kwame's body, Appellant's phone was found at the scene of the murder, Appellant's phone was calling and messaging Carter about setting up the robbery, Appellant's girlfriend's car was seen leaving the parking lot where Kwame's torched car was ultimately located, and Appellant's girlfriend was reading news articles about the murder on her cell phone the day after the crime. 9 AA 1669–70, 1688–90, 1703; 12 AA 2262, 2303; 14 AA 2542, 2620; 17 AA 3292–93. On top of all of that, Appellant testified and provided an unbelievable version of events, which the jury clearly rejected in its entirety. 13 AA 2435-87, 2491-96.

In sum, Appellant's argument that the district court erred in admitting the footwear impression evidence is meritless. The district court's decision to admit the evidence was proper—the district court determined that a person with ordinary intelligence could analyze the evidence without the need for an expert's opinion. However, if this Court is inclined to find that the lower court erred, such error is harmless after consideration of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellant's judgment of conviction must be affirmed.

19

# b. Ms. Ryder's cell phone search history and text messages were appropriately admitted.

Appellant alleges that the district court erred by admitting text messages and search history from Angelisa Ryder's cell phone. <u>AOB</u> at 32. Specifically, Appellant asserts that the text messages and history were unauthenticated, impermissible hearsay, and improper rebuttal evidence. <u>AOB</u> at 33, 38.

Ms. Ryder's text messages and search history were properly authenticated. In arguing otherwise, Appellant relies on Rodriguez v. State. 128 Nev. 155, 273 P.3d 845 (2012). There, this Court held that "when there has been an objection to admissibility of a text message, the proponent of the evidence must explain the purpose for which the text message is being offered and provide sufficient direct or circumstantial corroborating evidence of authorship in order to authenticate the text message as a condition precedent to its admission." 128 Nev. at 162, 273 P.3d at 849 (internal citations omitted). NRS 52.015(1) requires that the proponent make some "showing sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." In Rodriguez, this Court found that text messages on the victim's phone were not properly admitted because they were not authenticated. 128 Nev. at 162, 273 P.3d at 850. "[T]he State offered the text messages to prove that Rodriguez was one of the men who assaulted the victim." 128 Nev. at 162, 273 P.3d at 849. This Court held that the text messages were accordingly only relevant to the extent the State could prove that Rodriguez authored them. Id. However, the record in that

case did not support a finding that Rodriguez had any part in the authorship of the text messages after a certain point in time, and thus they were not properly admitted. 128 Nev. at 163, 273 P.3d at 850. Notwithstanding the text messages being improperly admitted, this Court upheld Rodriguez's conviction—any error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt. <u>Id.</u>

Here, Appellant's situation is drastically different than that contemplated by Rodriguez. The text messages Appellant now complains about were not admitted for the substance contained in the texts, nor were they admitted for the truth of what was said. The text messages between Appellant and Ms. Ryder were admitted to provide context to the conversation between the two and rebut Appellant's version of events that he testified to. 14 AA 2643–44. In fact, the text messages are not even the crucial evidence, making the Rodriguez standard inapplicable because that case was limited to the authenticity of *text messages*. The more important evidence, about which Appellant also raises complaints, was Ms. Ryder's *cell phone search history* showing she clicked on the link of a news article covering Kwame's murder the day after the shooting. 14 AA 2542, 2620. This evidence was admitted to show that Ms. Ryder had knowledge of the murder shortly after it occurred and yet Appellant claimed that he had no knowledge of the murder until after March 20, 2017. 14 AA 2677. Further, the text messages were admitted to contradict Appellant's testimony with respect to what time he was allegedly robbed of his cell phone and that he never

changed his phone number, as well as to show that Ms. Ryder had access to her cell phone when the news search took place. Specifically, the evidence showed that Ms. Ryder and Appellant were texting after the point in time that Appellant claims he was robbed of his cell phone. Further, Appellant asserted he never changed his phone number, yet Ms. Ryder began texting a new contact in her phone with the name "Larry Brown" the day after the murder.

Ms. Ryder's phone search history is not hearsay because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. The search history was not offered to prove that the murder occurred or that a news article covering the murder existed. Rather, the search history was admitted to establish Ms. Ryder's knowledge of the murder at that point in time and show that either Ms. Ryder, whether on her own or at Appellant's direction, or Appellant himself, was reading a news article covering the murder the very next day.

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